
National Park Authority  - 9 August 2021 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held via VIRTUAL 
MEETING ON MONDAY, 9TH AUGUST, 2021 AT 10.00 AM when your 
attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Catherine Mealing-Jones

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 9 August 2021 2

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 20)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them
as a correct record:
 

a)     National Park Authority – 21st June 2021

b)    National Park Authority – 5th July 2021
 
2. To receive the following minutes:

Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 7th May 2021

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

7 A470 AND PONT AR DAF (Pages 21 - 28)

8 CHANGES TO STANDING ORDERS (Pages 29 - 32)

9 SENIOR LEADERSHIP PROPOSALS (Pages 33 - 70)

10 MEMBER REPORTS 



National Park Authority  - 9 August 2021 3

To receive any reports from members.

11 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

12 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874 624437



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 21 June 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT VIRTUAL MEETING ON MONDAY, 21ST JUNE, 2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McIntosh

Monmouthshire

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards, Sue Holden and Mr 
Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesStephanie Evans, Transition Director
Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies
Cllr McNicholas, Cllr A Webb, Cllr Amos and Cllr Williams

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 21 June 2021

79/21 Correspondence 

The Chair opened the meeting and noted apologies.

80/21 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

81/21 Minutes 

RESOLVED:
 
a)   To approve the  minutes of the National Park Authority 

(EGM) – 14th May 2021 and authorise the Chair to sign them 
as a correct record; 

b)  To approve the minutes of the National Park Authority held 
on 28 May 2021 and authorise the Chair to sign them as a 
correct record.

82/21 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.

83/21 Chair's Announcements 

The Chair advised members that interviews had taken place on 18 June for the post of 
Monitoring Officer/Solicitor/Data Protection Officer and a decision would be taken 
shortly.  He referred to the National Parks UK climate change statement which had been 
agreed at the recent Chairs’ Forum. It was noted that the Authority had already agreed its 
own climate change position statement but the Chair hoped that UK document could 
strengthen this.

84/21 Transition Director's  Announcements 

The Transition Director updated members on a number of current workstreams.

85/21 Prudential Code Treasury Management Report and Borrowing Approvals for 
2021/22 

Members considered a report from the Finance Manager in respect of borrowing limits.
 

RESOLVED:  That the Authority continues the present 
arrangements in relation to operational and authorised 
borrowing limits and Treasury Management for 2021/22. 

 
 
 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 21 June 2021

86/21 Remit of the Policy Forum 

Members considered options for member and officer roles in developing National Park 
policy.
 
In discussion the importance of the stakeholder panel was emphasised, as well as the need 
for clear terms of reference for all groups. The Transition Director referred to Citizen’s 
Assemblies which were part of the process of policy development. There was general 
support for the Policy Forum as a means of high quality debate, with invited speakers 
providing accurate and balanced presentations, giving members the opportunity to learn 
as well as make better decisions.  The achievements of the Forum were noted.  A request 
was made to avoid bureaucracy and not to add to officer workload.  The Deputy Chair 
advised that papers to be brought to the Authority meeting on 5 July sought to clarify the 
roles of governance bodies.
 
The role of the Stakeholder Panel in scrutinising as well as engaging was welcomed.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)  The role and remit of the various working 

groups including Policy Forum as outlined in 1.2 
is adopted for National Park policy development. 

 
b)    The proposed working group / committee road map as 

outlined in1.2.2 is adopted for the development of National 
Park policy. 

 
 

c) That the Terms of reference for Policy Forum and the 
Policy Programme management Group be redrawn in line 
with 1.2. 

 

87/21 Phosphates: The current situation and suggested next steps 

Members received a report outlining the impact of the phosphate issue and how the 
Authority could maximise its efforts through its own regulatory and enforcement 
function, but also as influencer and enabler.  Members welcomed this as a clear and 
helpful report and congratulated all contributors.
 
The impact on capacity was highlighted, as well as the impact on the planning service and 
land use, and the challenges in monitoring the situation. There would also be an impact on 
tourism. These issues would be a priority for the new Public Affairs Manager.
 
A member reported on a letter he had sent to Natural Resources Wales requesting more 
information on the source, which he would share with members. Additional information 
supplied by another member had been forwarded to members prior to the meeting but 
the source had yet to be verified.  The member questioned the veracity and alleged bias of 
some reports before the Authority, which was strongly refuted by members. 
 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 21 June 2021

RESOLVED: That the report be noted and that 
regular updates on actions undertaken by the NPA be 
brought to Members as a standing item, including 
information on: 
 
a)    Establishing a River Usk catchment management board and 

partnership. 
b)    The activity of the River Wye Nutrient Management 

Plan Board, Technical Advice Group and 
catchment partnership. 

c)    The work of the WG oversight board and planning sub-
group. 

d)    Our actions as a ‘competent authority’; including 
establishing protocol and procedures for Habitats 
Regulations Assessment across all the activities of the 
National Park Authority. 

e)    Planning statistics. 
f)      Asset management, including the National Park Visitor 

Centre. 
g)    Communication, education and involvement activity.

 

88/21 HEAP Project plan update 

In the absence of the Heritage Officer the Strategy and Policy Manager presented an 
update on the Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP) and outlined some changes to 
the timetable and the governance.
 
The Heritage Champion asked that thanks be conveyed to the Heritage Officer who had 
been the driving force behind the considerable amount of work achieved to date.  He 
reported on the commitment and enthusiasm of the Historic Environment Partnership.
 
The point was made in relation to paragraph 2.1 of the HEAP Project Plan that while it 
was a collaboration, the Authority was ultimately responsible for the strategy and 
delivery; officers concurred with this.  A view was expressed that if there was a conflict it 
should be for the Chair to resolve rather than the Monitoring Officer.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report.

89/21 Salary Headroom Report 

The Finance Manager presented a report for information, which was requested at the last 
Authority meeting.  Members noted the update on the salary budget as a result of staff 
changes, and the amount remaining.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report.

90/21 Risk Register 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 21 June 2021

The Transition Director presented the Authority’s Risk Register, which was the request 
of the Deputy Chair.  She advised that this was one of the areas being reviewed by the 
consultant working with the Authority at present, and confirmed that while officers were 
reviewing risks they were aware that the system needed to be strengthened.
 
The Deputy Chair said that there were some areas of good practice that needed to be 
applied but that she was happy to wait for the consultant to report back.  The point was 
made that there were additional risks that needed to be recorded, such as climate change 
and biodiversity, and also that all risks should have an owner and be reflected in 
performance management reviews.  The importance of members being able to challenge 
through the RAG system was noted.
 
Cllrs J Hill and I McIntosh left the meeting at this point.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 
 

91/21 Member Reports 

The Landscape and Biodiversity Champion reported on a third party report he had 
received about cultivation of grassland and semi-natural habitat which he had visited and 
reported back to Authority officers, Natural Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water.
 
He also attended a meeting to discuss cross border phosphares and planning in the Wye 
SAC catchment.

92/21 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.

93/21 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 5 July 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT VIRTUAL MEETING ON MONDAY, 5TH JULY, 2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick, Cllr McNicholas and Cllr McIntosh

Monmouthshire

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Liz Davis (Deputy Chair), Canon Aled Edwards, Sue 
Holden and Mr Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesStephanie Evans, Transition Director
Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies
Cllr A Webb and Cllr Amos

Page 11



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 5 July 2021

94/21 Correspondence 

Apologies were noted. Officers continued to address connectivity issues for new member 
Cllr Julian Amos.
 

95/21 Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.
 

96/21 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

97/21 Chair's Announcements 

The Chair had no announcements to make.
 

98/21 Transition Director's Announcements 

The Transition Director advised that Sir David Henshaw (Chair, Natural Resources 
Wales) had accepted an invitation to address members on the phosphates issue.
 
She introduced two new members of staff:  Marc Ronan (Solicitor, Monitoring Officer and 
Data Protection Officer) and Jodie Bond (Public Affairs Manager).  Both officers addressed 
the meeting briefly.
 

99/21 Definition of Authority Governance Bodies 

Members considered proposals to clarify the definition of the Authority’s committees, 
groups and fora, and were asked to agree a method of appointing Members to groups.  
External groups involving stakeholders were not part of this report.
 
The Chair advised that he had refused a request to withdraw items 6 and 7 but proposed 
to let all members debate the issues.
 
Concern was expressed about the timing of this report and the fact that the Governance 
and Member Development Working Group had not had the opportunity to give their 
views prior to this meeting.  It was also noted that the working group was to meet on 9 
July to discuss roles and responsibilities of members in relation to the Audit Wales action 
plan.  
 
There was a full debate on the merits of appointing to groups through the 2:1 balance 
required for committees or through self-nomination, and it was felt that no limit should 
be put on the number of groups on which a member could sit, in order to encourage 

Page 12



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 5 July 2021

skills and experience to be used widely.  There was support for the view that if a member 
was interested and had the time then they should be able to join a group.  The point was 
made that members not on a particular group would still have the opportunity to 
comment when the matter was debated at the Authority meeting.
 
Cllr S McNicholas joined the meeting and confirmed that she did not have any 
declarations of interest.
 
There were references to the paper at item 7 on the agenda and views were expressed 
that the working groups had not met regularly, or at all in some cases.  In response to a  
comment that officers were deciding when they wanted member involvement the 
Transition Director advised that the new Chief Executive would no doubt take a view on 
how best to deliver the vision and what structures were needed, which was an 
operational matter.  
 
The Chair advised that the paper was brought by officers in good faith but he was now 
withdrawing the paper and asked Governance and Member Development Working Group 
to consider the matters.  He stressed that this would not be immediate.
 
 

100/21 Proposed amendments to Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation 

Members considered recommendations to review the status of some governance bodies 
and proposed changes to the terms of reference.
 
The Chair proposed to omit recommendation (a) from the debate.
 
There was some discussion about the draft terms of reference for the Policy Programme 
Management Group and a view was expressed that it shouldn’t be limited to three 
members.  The Transition Director advised that this was a delivery group rather than an 
opportunity to develop policy, which was the remit of the Policy Forum.  While members’ 
views were valued there needed to be a balance between operational and strategic.
 
The point was made that logistics should not come into it now that meetings could take 
place virtually, and this enabled more members to get involved without needing to travel.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)       To approve a change to the terms of reference of the 

Appointments Committee as set out in paragraph 
1.2.3;

 
b)       To approve the terms of reference for the Policy 

Programme Group subject to amending the 
composition to up to six members, and removing the 
requirement for 2:1 balance between local authority 
appointed and Welsh Government appointed 
members.

 

Page 13



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 5 July 2021

 
 

101/21 Proposed amendment to Standing Order 8.9 

The Monitoring Officer proposed a change to Standing Order 8.9 to clarify the voting 
procedure.  
 
A member queried the phrase ‘written ballot’ in view of the fact that virtual meetings did 
not enable this.  The Officer agreed that replacing this with ‘secret ballot’ would cover 
this.  He advised that Standing Order covered virtual meetings which would anyway 
override 8.9.
 

RESOLVED:  To amend Standing Order 8.9 to read:  “if 
more than one nomination is received for any particular 
role then the role shall be elected by the Member 
candidate receiving the highest number of votes in favour.  
Votes shall be cast by secret ballot.  Where no single 
Member candidate holds the highest number of votes in 
favour, then the Member candidate with the lowest 
number of votes shall be removed until one of the Member 
candidates has received the highest number of votes cast.

 

102/21 Member Reports 

Members noted a short report from the Landscape and Biodiversity Member Champion 
which had been published in the library.
 

103/21 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.
 

104/21 Any Other Business 

No further business was discussed.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 14



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 1 7 May 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AUDIT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD AT VIRTUAL MEETING ON FRIDAY, 7TH MAY, 

2021

PRESENT:

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James (Chair)

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb (Deputy Chair)

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr James Marsden, Mr Christopher Coppock and Canon Aled Edwards

In Attendance

Stephanie Evans, Transition Director
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Cllr G Thomas

Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer

13/21 Correspondence 

Apologies were noted and the Chair welcomed Nick Selwyn, Mark Jones and Philippa 
Dixon from Audit Wales and Sean Gourlay from TIAA.  He also welcomed Transition 

Page 15



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 2 7 May 2021

Director, Stephanie Evans, to her first meeting of the committee, and the Chair of the 
Authority, who was in attendance.
 
Two items of correspondence from Audit Wales were noted:  the Audit Certificate for 
2019-20 and the Annual Audit Summary for 2020-21.
 

14/21 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

15/21 Minutes 

An omission in attendance and a spelling mistake were noted and would be corrected 
before publication.
 

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 29 January 2021 be approved and the 
Chair authorised to sign them as a correct record.

 
 

16/21 Public Speaking Scheme 

There were no requests to speak.
 

17/21 Audit Wales Annual Audit Plan 2021/22 and Audit Summary 2020/21 

The Chair brought the audit items up the agenda to enable financial performance to be 
assessed in conjunction with the performance reports.
 
Audit Wales officers presented the Annual Audit Plan for 2021-22.  In response to a 
query they confirmed that they would be looking at how public sponsored bodies were 
addressing climate change and the collective contribution of the three Park Authorities to 
delivering the changes Wales needs through the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.  
Members made the point that without common metrics across the Parks in relation to 
the Strategic Remit Letter from the Minister it was difficult to make comparisons.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the content of the 2021-22 Audit 
Wales Plan.

 

18/21 Internal Audit Report 2022/21 and Audit Plan 2021/22 

Mr Gourlay presented reports on internal audits carried out in 2020-21 and set out the 
audit plan for 2021-22.
 

Page 16



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 3 7 May 2021

Members acknowledged the lack of capacity in staff resources at present but reiterated 
the need for a replacement performance management system and better alignment 
between purposes and duty, remit letter and strategic and operational plans.  The 
Transition Director thanked those officers who had stepped in to fill the reporting gap in 
performance and assured members that she was seeking additional resource to address 
performance and risk.  Options for performance systems were currently being explored.
 
Mr Gourlay responded to a number of questions from members, and agreed that if 
members wished, TIAA could carry out a piece of work on the effectiveness of working 
groups as benign monitoring systems.
 
There was some discussion about a more coherent link on risks identified across 
performance areas, and the potential for one risk register comprising organisational, 
internal and external audit identified risks.  The point was also made that there was a risk 
of using umbrella terms such as climate change without breaking this down to include, for 
example, degradation of biodiversity.  Mr Gourlay reported that the Authority’s risk 
register contained all the risks they would expect, but the important thing was how these 
were managed.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)      To note the reports;
b)      To approve the Internal Audit Plan for 2021-22.

 
 

19/21 Audit Wales Action Plan Update 

Members reviewed progress against the Action Plan and noted that things had progressed 
further since the agenda was published.
 
The Democratic Services Manager reported on work being done by the Monitoring 
Officer on the role of Policy Forum and she hoped to circulate a document for comments 
in the very near future.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 

20/21 Budget Performance and Project Financial Management Q4 

The Finance Manager presented the draft outturn figures for 2020-21 which would inform 
the performance report later on the agenda.  Final figures would be brough to a future 
meeting. She advised that the costs of the cyber-attack were still accruing in terms of staff 
resource to restore and sort data recovered following the attack, but that it was a huge 
piece of work to quantify the cost of staff time.
 
She went through questions from members which had been raised with her in advance of 
the meeting.
 

Page 17



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 4 7 May 2021

It was noted that the format of the budget spreadsheets had cut some narrative from the 
report and that it was essential for members to see all information in order to scrutinise 
the budget.
 
The Chair of the Authority, in attendance in the meeting, asked the officer, in her role as 
S.151 Officer, if there was anything that concerned her.  She responded that while she did 
not think there was financial risk, the generic risk of lack of staff capacity was the most 
serious, which impacted on the ability to ensure that staff changes were reflected in the 
Scheme of Delegation and levels of financial responsibility.  The Transition Director 
concurred with this assessment of risk which remained of concern to her.  She recognised 
the support that the Finance Manager and Democratic Services Manager had been 
providing during this period.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 

21/21 Performance Report Q4/Year End 

Members reviewed the year end progress against objectives in the Corporate Plan.  They 
acknowledged the current gaps in staffing and the difficulty in providing this report, but 
highlighted some projects which were difficult to assess when working groups or project 
boards had not met. The Waterfalls Project was cited as an example of this. It was 
suggested that staff responsible for projects in the current Corporate Plan be asked to 
attend Audit and Scrutiny to report any changes and to map progress.
 
The Transition Director advised that project management was essential for effective 
delivery and accepted that there was progress to be made on training in this.  She 
referred to additional funding for the Waterfalls Project and the need to establish the 
project board.
 
A general point was made that performance narratives must match the RAG status in 
performance reports to avoid confusion.
 

RESOLVED:  To note progress against objectives in the 
Corporate Plan 2020-21.

 

22/21 Risk Register 

Members reviewed operational risks and noted the need for additional staff resource to 
manage this work area.
 
A members highlighted the need for a more joined up, coherent risk register aligned to 
risks highlighted by external audit. He emphasised that biodiversity and climate change 
risks were separate but interrelated.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the current risks on the Authority’s 
Risk Register. 

 

Page 18



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 5 7 May 2021

23/21 Complaints and Freedom of Information Requests - Year End 

Members reviewed the year end report on complaints and Freedom of Information 
requests.  
 
The fact that the majority of complaints were in relation to planning was felt to be more a 
reflection on the areas on which the public were testing the Authority than a criticism of 
planning, given that capacity was being restored in the department.
 
A member suggested that the Authority needed to consider how it communicated the 
current moratorium on development as a result of the phosphate issue, and to work with 
partners, planning agents and stakeholders.  The Transition Director would take this up.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the reports.
 

24/21 Action Tracking 

Members noted outstanding actions from the Authority and committees.  A member 
raised the issue of accommodation for the Authority as apparently no progress had been 
made.  The Transition Director assured the committee that she had picked this up and 
had set up an officer group in the first instance to understand the issues and to request 
involvement in future discussions with the landlord.  She advised that this would be work 
that the new CEO would take up on her appointment.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 

25/21 Access to Information 

The Chair advised that there was no further business and that this concluded the open 
part of the meeting.

 
RESOLVED:  To exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 14 in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 
14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

 

26/21 Legal Risk Register 

The Transition Director briefed members on progress against the risks on the Legal Risk 
Register.  She confirmed that outcomes of planning matters would be reported to the 
Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee.
 
 
 

Page 19



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 6 7 May 2021

27/21 Other Business 

There was no further business and the Chair thanked all for their attendance and closed 
the meeting.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Page 20



A470/Pont ar Daf Position Statement

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 9th August 2021

Report Author
James Lawrence

Job title Visitor Management Officer

Contact Details James.lawrence@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To agree the National Park Authority’s position on the 
National Trust plan to implement the parking plan as per 
their 2017 planning permission

Single Integrated 
Assessment
List of  Enclosures

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation The Authority’s position on the National Trust plan 
is agreed and shared with partners

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Pont ar Daf location and access to Pen-Y-Fan, is above all others a symbol of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park and is a nationally strategic site.  For the 530,000 plus 
annual visitors who arrive here the facilities are currently poor, with cars parking 
perilously on verges and temporary toilet facilities. It is vital that the site is developed in 
a way which positively reflects the values and policies we are responsible for.  This 
project therefore represents an opportunity to publicly demonstrate the delivery of our 
priorities and symbolize the values which we share with our partners.  Delivery through 
partnership is therefore essential.  

The National Trust (NT) were granted planning permission in December 2017 at Pont 
ar Daf to formalise the existing parking layout along the old road alignment (shown in 
blue as ‘A’ on the accompanying plan - adjacent to the A470), consisting of some 138 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

mailto:James.lawrence@beacons-npa.gov.uk


spaces and to create a further 123 spaces (Shown in tan as ‘B’ on the accompanying 
plan), providing a total of 261. 

The NT have recently picked up the delivery of their expanded car parking project prior 
to the expiration of their planning permission (December 2022) and are currently 
planning to implement the scheme as per the original application. NT is a charity, which 
like many others has suffered significantly during the Covid pandemic.  The full car 
parking project would provide significant annual income, estimated at over £200k, and is 
therefore attractive commercially.  Furthermore, NT have been widely encouraged to 
provide a solution to the car parking issues.

Since planning permission was granted in 2017 the context has changed significantly. 
National Park officers believe in a low carbon future with an accessible, sustainable and 
efficient transport system1providing opportunities for equity of access, wellbeing, socio-
economic benefit, decarbonisation, and nature recovery.  The NT 2017 scheme is a 
parking only scheme and is not in line with National Park Management Plan policy 
aspirations or with the latest recommendations as outlined in the recent Gridsquare 
2021 feasibility report2 (presented to policy forum on 25th June 2021).  

We believe there is an opportunity to work with NT and other partners to reflect the 
current context in the scheme plan and delivery. 

1.2 Proposals

The preferred scenario, as per the Gridsquare report, is based around sustainable 
tourism. Partners, including NT, came to a consensus that such an approach would not 
only tackle the scale of the parking problems, but would also lead to desirable outcomes 
such as making access easier for people without cars, providing a visitor experience 
worthy of the National Park and reducing emissions.

This scenario comprises:

• Reconfiguring car parking in the existing laybys, but not expanding car parking. Changes 
in management of car parking allows for charges to be levied for parking;

• Providing high quality visitor facilities and welcome, including areas that allow for 
waiting, hence encouraging people to use public transport;

• Improving public transport services and routes for active travel to provide flexible 
alternative options to car use. The existing T4 bus service would be enhanced (e.g. 

1 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021-full-
strategy_0.pdf 

2 C:\Users\helenr\OneDrive - beacons-npa.gov.uk\A470\A470 Visitor Access Corridor Study Brecon Beacons FINAL 
2021-05-20.pdf

Page 22

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021-full-strategy_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021-full-strategy_0.pdf
../../helenr/OneDrive%20-%20beacons-npa.gov.uk/A470/A470%20Visitor%20Access%20Corridor%20Study%20Brecon%20Beacons%20FINAL%202021-05-20.pdf
../../helenr/OneDrive%20-%20beacons-npa.gov.uk/A470/A470%20Visitor%20Access%20Corridor%20Study%20Brecon%20Beacons%20FINAL%202021-05-20.pdf


more frequent at peak times, marketing for leisure & access to Pen y Fan) and a peak-
time Park & Ride system would be introduced;

• Real-time car parking with a pre-booking facility would not only allow visitors to know 
if they would be able to park, but would allow for them to be re-directed to public 
transport or an available Park & Ride site if the parking is full;

• As these systems are having an effect, verge parking would be progressively removed. 

The scenario does not just involve the central area. The enhanced public transport and 
active travel services and infrastructure benefit the whole corridor and open up new 
opportunities for different types of visitor experience, and for the area to be marketed 
differently. The scenario also addresses the mutually beneficial roles of Merthyr Tydfil, 
Brecon and Hirwaun as gateway sites into the central area. Emerging transport 
infrastructure and service improvements and other visitor developments outside the 
immediate corridor offer significant potential to provide whole-journey visitor access 
without a car or the ability for people to park at a gateway and explore the area without 
a car.

The proposal is that the existing NT plan and the recommendations of the Gridsquare 
report are used as the basis to agree a proposal representative of all partners.  

NT will be asked to reconsider their current implementation of the scheme and to 
work with us to appoint a project manager for the whole scheme as recommended in 
the Gridsquare report.  It is proposed that BBNPA offer £10k towards this post.  The 
project manager will drive the scheme forward and develop outcomes which meet the 
needs of an iconic location in combination with an urgent public transport solution for 
summer 2022.  The project manager will be answerable to a board made up of the key 
strategic partners including NT, BBNPA, Welsh Government and Visit Wales.  The 
formation of this partnership, of strategic importance to BBNPA, will be led by the 
CEO.

If NT insists on scheme commencement, we advocate that they only continue with the 
first section of parking (alignment of former A470 – ‘A’ on plan) in combination with 
parking restrictions to the verge/ layby’s as appropriate and in parallel with a sustainable 
transport solution. BBNPA would not support the building of the second element of the 
parking (triangle) until options for a sustainable transport solution had been fully 
explored and implemented and then only if it proves to be complimentary.

1.3 Implications

Agreement of the recommendations here will then require detailed talks with NT, Visit 
Wales and Welsh Government Trunk Road Agency to agree and finance the role of the 
project manager and develop the project plan.  This will require high level input and 
advocacy from BBNPA, with the initial partner meeting convened by the BBNPA CEO.

Page 23



The implementation of a Sustainable Transport solution would be seen as a priority for 
the NPA and we would act quickly to bring partners around the table to make plans for 
summer 2022 in parallel with the wider project development role. 

1.4 Risk

The recommended approach may be seen to delay the implementation of solutions at 
Pont ar Daf, it is in conflict to the 2017 approved scheme and with other partners not 
least Visit Wales and NT ready to support it.  

NT are strategic partners, working together is important for both parties, however 
there is contrary risk with supporting the 2017 scheme in that it advocates building 
more parking on the mountain and locking in the use of private motor vehicles.

The current scheme does not remove verge parking and does not support a sustainable 
transport solution as reflected more recently in Welsh Government, Visit Wales and in 
our policies. 

Both positions carry reputational risk, one in that we would no longer support the 
scheme we approved in 2017 and the other that we actively support the building of car 
parks in our mountains and the continued use of carbon intensive private 
transportation.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to approve the recommendation.

RECOMMENDATION:  

1. National Trust are asked to adjust their current plans to implement the 
2017 car parking scheme (in full) in favour of a scheme which better 
reflects shared aspirations and the changed context.

2. Partners are asked to come together to finance a project manager, with a 
contribution of £10k from BBNPA.  The role of the project manager will 
be to use the detail of the NT scheme and the Gridsquare 
recommendations to develop a solution agreed by all partners.  

Page 24



3. The BBNPA CEO will convene partners to form the partnership, agree 
the terms of reference and governance arrangements and finalise the 
funding of the project manager. 

4. The project manager will develop a 2022 sustainable transport solution 
between Brecon and Merthyr as a matter of urgency. 

5. Should NT insist on commencement of the scheme BBNPA advocate the 
development of section A of the car park only, until such time that a 
sustainable transport solution can be integrated into the larger plan.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t require to 
be sent via secure methods.

Changes to Standing Orders

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 9 August 2021

Report Author Marc Ronan

Job title Monitoring Officer

marc marc.ronan@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To seek agreement to changes to Standing Order paragraph 
8.2

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of Enclosures None

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation a)  To agree changes to Standing Order paragraph 
8.2 allowing Members who are already 
appointed as Chair or Deputy Chair of a 
committee to also be appointed as Chair or 
Deputy Chair of a forum or working group of 
the National Park Authority.

1.1 Introduction or Background

At the Authority’s Annual General Meeting members discussed the impracticalities of 
the restriction on a member who holds the role of Chair or Deputy Chair on a 
committee from holding a Chair or Deputy Chair role on a forum or working group.  
The proposed changes are to Standing Order paragraph 8.2 only to maximize the skills 
and experience of members in addressing the needs of the National Park Authority.  
The original and marked amended wording to paragraph 8.2 are set out in Appendix A 
to this report.

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t require to 
be sent via secure methods.

1.2 Proposal

Recommendation - To agree changes to Standing Order paragraph 8.2 as follows

“8.2 For such election and for every appointment under this standing order, a 
Member can only nominate themselves using the form providing one month 
before the meeting. Members who already hold a role of Chair or Deputy Chair 
of a committee may also be appointed as Chair or Deputy Chair of a working 
group or forum.”

1.3 Implications

The changes to Standing Order paragraph 8.2 will enable Members to share their skills 
and abilities across a wider range of National Park Authority meetings providing another 
layer of efficiency, good governance and use of that Member resource.     

1.4 Risk

The proposals add clarity to roles and responsibilities of Members and do not increase 
risks to the Members or the National Park Authority.

1.5 Conclusion

The proposals will improve good governance and efficacy in meetings without 
unreasonably restricting those Members who could otherwise have shared their skills and 
knowledge as Chair or Deputy Chair for the benefit of the National Park Authority.

RECOMMENDATION:

To agree changes to the Standing Order paragraph 8.2 as set out in this 
report.

Page 30



Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t require to 
be sent via secure methods.

Appendix A

Standing Order paragraph 8.2

Original

For such election and for every appointment under this standing order, a Member can 
only nominate themselves using the form providing one month before the meeting. 
Members may nominate themselves for any number of roles but can only be elected into 
no more than 1 Chair or 1 deputy chair role (maximum of 1 role) 

Marked amended paragraph 8.2

For such election and for every appointment under this standing order, a Member can 
only nominate themselves using the form providing one month before the meeting. 
Members may nominate themselves for any number of roles but can only be elected into 
no more than 1 Chair or 1 deputy chair role (maximum of 1 role) who already hold a 
role of Chair or Deputy Chair of a committee may also be appointed as Chair or 
Deputy Chair of a working group or forum.” 

Note – Words in current document are deleted using strikethrough. Words added by underscore.

     

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1

        Senior Leadership Proposals

1. Executive Summary 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has an important role to play in addressing 
some of the most important challenges we face as a society today as we discharge our 
duties and responsibilities in stewarding the Park. This represents a significant 
opportunity for the Authority; however, the organisation does not yet have the right 
capabilities and capacity, or the culture and attitude which will enable us to seize that 
opportunity.  The Chief Executive is seeking a suitably skilled and adaptable senior 
leadership team to support her, and to enable our intent for pace and reach as an 
organisation so that we deliver excellent public services and increase our positive 
impact. 

Below the gaps at senior level there are further significant gaps in the existing staff 
structure with a large number of roles being temporary or with staff ‘acting up’ into 
them alongside their existing roles. There is therefore an urgent need to implement 
proposals for the senior leadership structure and programme management capacity 
for the Authority.

This report outlines a set of proposals that will provide effective strategic leadership 
for the future, a directorate and delivery structure aligned to key objectives and 
programme management capacity to effectively coordinate, support and deliver the 
project portfolio of work.  It also seeks to create a strong and well-coordinated ‘centre’ 
to the organisation which will enable the development of streamlined processes 
which will lead to better liaison across all parts of the organisation, and enhanced 
responsiveness with the public and stakeholders. 

The proposals look forward in a positive and proactive way to achieving organisational 
effectiveness, innovation, influence and ambition.

2. Background and Approach

Given the changing operating context for the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
(BBNPA), the incoming Chief Executive wanted to assure herself that this was 
appropriately reflected in the design of the new senior leadership structure and to 
anticipate further developments as far as possible, including benchmarking against 
other relevant bodies. Therefore, an initial evidence finding phase of engagements 
with key stakeholders was undertaken including;

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



2

o The current Corporate Governance Team (CGT).
o The Staff Management Forum
o All Staff Meeting
o BBNPA Member Meetings
o CEO’s – Pembrokeshire & Snowdonia National Parks 
o CEO - National Resources Wales (NRW)
o Welsh Government
o WAO

This baselining exercise followed a consistent and structured approach with a range 
of questions under the themes of; role and responsibilities; leadership, management 
and communication and corporate matters. The meetings were ALL very insightful and 
provided valuable input into the process. The openness and honesty of all participants 
was much appreciated. 

In addition, an all staff meeting was conducted following which individual Officers 
from a range of services also requested meetings in the same context as the Corporate 
Governance Team, these requests were all accommodated.

To gather as many member views as possible engagements were scheduled over three 
separate meetings to provide effectiveness and flexibility. As with the Officer 
engagements there was a consistent and structured approach with a range of 
questions aligned to the role of Members including; challenges in the member role, 
requirements of a new operating model; views on programmes, performance and risk, 
views on the corporate planning cycle, scheme of delegation and consideration of the 
Audit Wales recommendations regarding implementation of the change programme. 
A number of Members were not able to attend one of the three meetings scheduled 
and therefore an additional meeting was convened to help ensure inclusivity. All 
meetings were helpful towards the development of the leadership proposals and I 
would like to take this opportunity to thank all participants.

Benchmarking, learning and understanding the historic, current and importantly the 
strategic  context and challenge has also been a key element of this work, in addition 
to the ‘internal’ perspective that was explored with Officers and Members, it was also 
viewed as a critical requirement to speak to other National Park Authorities, 
particularly in Wales. Engagements were conducted with the CEO’s of Pembrokeshire 
and Snowdonia National Park’s respectively. It was important to discuss both Parks 
strategic structures but to really explore what was effective, what was potentially not 
working and to draw on their respective learning and vision for the future aligned to 
global, national and local drivers and objectives. 

Meetings have also taken place with Audit Wales, Welsh Government (WG) and 
National Resources Wales (NRW). Based on the latest Audit Wales report and 
recommendations it was key to speak to their lead officer to explore the 
recommendations and to calibrate this against the wider evidence baseline 
particularly in relation to leadership and programme management. The WG and NRW 

Page 34



3

meetings were instigated to share and discuss progress being made with developing 
the senior leadership team and to ‘test’ some of the thinking and ideas. The meetings 
were positive with support for the proposed way forward and appreciation of being 
‘sighted’ at the earliest available stage in the process, with recognition given for the 
hard work, approach and rigour that had been undertaken against a challenging 
timeframe.

3. Strategic Considerations

A key element of developing the senior leadership proposals has been alignment and 
forward focus on global, national and strategic objectives, whilst always having the 
National Parks purposes and duty as a reference point.

National Policy and the programme for government have been significant in shaping 
these proposals with the annual remit letter fundamental in providing clarity on 
strategic priorities. The declared nature and climate emergencies also having a key 
influence on the proposals.

Key Acts and policy including; The Well-Being and Future Generations Act, Tourism 
Strategy for Wales, Environment Wales Act and Valued and Resilient et al have also 
shaped the thinking behind the proposals.

At a more ‘local’ level, alignment to the emerging National Park Management Plan and 
Corporate Plan are also intrinsic to the most effective operating model for the park 
for the future.

See Appendix 1 for a full list of the proposal’s basis and source.

4. Programme Management and Performance

A key gap exists in respect of the programme management framework for the 
Authority. The current approach is not sufficiently cohesive, robust or consistent and 
lacks effective measurement and accountability. Existing projects also lack the 
structure, discipline and reporting of proven project management methodology and 
approaches.

The Authority requires a new approach to overall management with effective 
challenge, validation and prioritisation at the initiation stage in order to ensure the 
respective project should be undertaken based on alignment with strategic direction 
and objectives. 

There is an urgent need to consolidate all project work into one coordinated portfolio 
that can be managed and monitored for effectiveness, consistency and delivery and 
against which resources can be tensioned and prioritised. This approach will enable 
better resource management against priority projects and will enable the Authority to 
target high value activity and have clear start and finish points for work. It will also 

Page 35



4

improve our approach to bidding for new activity and funding. It will also enable the 
Authority to have a pipeline of prospective projects and capital priorities. This is 
supported by the findings of the Audit Wales report and subsequent 
recommendations and engagement through the scoping process of the senior 
structure review.

5. Senior Leadership Proposals

5.1 Leadership

A strong leadership team is vital to meet the Park’s challenges of the present and 
future. The current situation is underlined in reports and through the evidence finding 
phase of this work and must be urgently addressed.

The fundamental requirement in recruiting new leaders is to identify a new team with 
the demonstratable capability to effectively lead people in an engaging, empowering 
and purposeful way with clarity and direction aligned to organisational aims and 
objectives.

The need to matrix work is also vital in achieving improvement and success going 
forward, there are a range of cross-cutting themes including projects that will require 
a cohesive and collaborative approach.

The formation of a Senior Leadership Team is imperative in ensuring; statutory 
compliance, operational delivery, programme delivery and review and alignment 
including strategy, planning and performance. It will also enable resilience, internal 
challenge and support, provide cover for operational reasons, enable broader 
engagement with members, stakeholders and the public, and ensure that decisions 
can be taken effectively at appropriate levels supported by a new scheme of 
delegation. 

See appendix 2 – Senior Leadership Team Operating Model

5.2 Directorates

It is proposed that there will be two Directorates going forward, named Planning and 
Place and Nature Recovery and Climate Change respectively. The Directorates will be 
strategically led by two Directors who will report directly to the Chief Executive 
Officer.

Director of Planning and Place

It is proposed that the Director of Planning and Place has services and themes within 
their Directorate including; Planning, Sustainable Development, Sustainable Thriving 
Communities, Heritage and Culture, Sustainable Tourism, Outdoor Recreation and 
Property Management.

Page 36



5

One of the key reasons for the groupings within the Directorate is the reflection of the 
park as a ‘Place’ including the infrastructure and assets. 

Planning and sustainable development naturally work together with strategic 
direction set for both via the Well-Being of Future Generations Act (2015) and 
reaffirmed via the latest remit letter. It is also important to reflect on the statutory 
compliance element of planning and the key role the service will play in the future 
evolution of the park area.

National Park Authorities are custodians of the historic built and cultural heritage and 
it is vital to safeguard and manage this inheritance alongside partners where relevant.

The Tourism Strategy highlights our outstanding landscapes as one of our key assets 
and their special qualities and attraction to visitors whilst recognising our duty of care 
to ensure the special qualities of the Park are not put at risk as a consequence.

The management and development of our infrastructure is key to supporting and 
enhancing the parks future aims and strategy, particularly aligned to visitor attraction 
and compliance with environmental focussed goals. They represent a real opportunity 
to show our leadership by example. 

The role will be a permanent member of the Senior Leadership Team of the National 
Park.

Director of Nature Recovery and Climate Change

It is proposed that the Director of Nature Recovery and Climate Change has services 
and themes within their Directorate including; De-Carbonisation, Biodiversity, 
Sustainable Agriculture, Maintenance of the Park Landscape, Rights of Way, 
Education, Visitor Engagement and Warden Services.

The proposed composition of the Directorate links the global challenge of climate 
change and nature with the key service and support elements that will enable 
progress towards the strategic objectives. There are key synergies in having effective 
education aligned to visitor engagement and the overarching theme of nature and 
climate change, the maintenance of the park landscape including rights of way and 
the role of warden services are also intrinsic in achieving the overarching objectives.

The proposed Directorate name and subsequent Director role title also indicates 
clarity and status in respect of the challenge the Authority places on this aligned to 
global and national objectives. It clearly highlights the Park’s commitment and role in 
assisting in its duty to achieving key objectives such as carbon neutrality by 2030 and 
by 2050 net emissions target of 95% lower than the baseline set in legislation and the 
continuation of the work in prioritising designated landscapes improving their 
connectivity, condition, scale / extent and diversity of ecosystems and maintain and 
enhance resilient ecological networks.

The role will be a permanent member of the Senior Leadership Team of the National 
Park.

Page 37



6

Programme Manager

There is an urgent need to consolidate all project work into one coordinated portfolio 
of activity that can be managed and monitored for effectiveness, consistency and 
delivery. This is supported by the findings of the Audit Wales report and subsequent 
recommendations and engagement through the scoping process of the senior 
structure review.

It is proposed that a new post of Programme Manager be created to manage, 
coordinate and support the Authorities programme of work. In addition, the role will 
be responsible for the corporate support services of Finance, HR and IT and other 
technology.

 
The BBNPA Programme Manager will manage, coordinate and control a portfolio of 
multiple projects from cradle to grave supporting their identification, validation, 
prioritisation, resourcing, progression, reporting, implementation and benefit 
realisation aligned to achieving the intended goals and objectives.

The BBNPA Programme Manager will be responsible for the corporate services of 
Finance, HR and IT and other technology, ensuring a cohesive approach based on the 
close synergies each of these portfolios have in delivering a multiple project 
programme of work, in addition to their statutory compliance duties and integral part 
in supporting all of the operating components of the organisation.

The role will coordinate and assist in developing the necessary partnerships with other 
organisations, partners and stakeholders in order to achieve optimum programme 
outcomes.

The role will be a permanent member of the Senior Leadership Team of the National 
Park.

Monitoring Officer

The Monitoring Officer has the specific duty to ensure that the Council, its Officers, 
and its Members, maintain the highest standard of conduct in all they do. The role is 
a statutory function and is not currently permanent in the establishment of the 
organisation. In the new leadership structure, it is proposed that Democratic Services 
becomes the responsibility of the Monitoring Officer and the service is renamed; Legal 
and Democratic Services.

The role will be a permanent member of the Senior Leadership Team of the National 
Park.

Communications

Based on the importance of effective communications and the integral part it plays in 
the profile and reputation of the Park, the service will be a permanent member of the 
SLT going forward.

Page 38



7

See Appendix 3 – Proposed Directorates.
See Appendix 4 – Consolidated Proposed Senior Structure.

6. Proposal Feedback

The proposals have been presented to and shared with the following stakeholders;

o The current Corporate Governance Team (CGT) who subsequently 
disseminated to their respective Teams for feedback.

o The Staff Management Forum who subsequently shared and invited feedback 
from their respective membership.

o Welsh Government
o WAO
o National Resources Wales (NRW)

The feedback has been very positive and constructive, headline points are listed as 
follows;

o Overall consensus for the requirement of two Directors and the overdue 
strategic leadership this will provide.

o Overall support and recognition of the need for a Programme Manager and 
the benefits this will provide via an effective programme management 
framework.

o Understanding of the context, baseline and evidence that has informed the 
structure particularly the emphasis on the future and the priorities set via the 
remit letter, programme for government and other strategies and acts. 

o Understanding of the rationale for the service / themes in each directorate 
with the understanding that there is flexibility for this to change and evolve if 
required in the future. This point highlights the fact that due to the function / 
service delivery elements of the park there is probably no ‘perfect fit’ however 
the proposal aims to follow an initial alignment to strategic priorities, park 
purpose and global challenges.

o Cross-cutting themes and matrix working have been widely welcomed and 
recognised holistically as a necessity going forward to achieve effectiveness 
and success.

o A real consensus to move this proposal forward at pace with the realism that 
there will still be a period of time where the Authority remains in a challenging 
situation, mainly due to recruitment timescales.

o To focus on the Governance framework as the next priority following the 
Senior Leadership review.

o To consider the Section 151 Officer being a member of the SLT.

Page 39



8

7. Budget

The posts are subject to evaluation. The indicative salary range however has been 
provided and costs of the three proposed new posts are based on the maximum of 
scale range with 32% on-costs applied. This is compared to the existing unallocated 
salary budget ‘for the current financial year. This full amount would not be required 
for 2021/22 as we are already over halfway through the year.

For reference the unallocated salary budget forecast for future years is £159k for 
2022/23 and £202k for 2023/24.

Proposed New Posts Indicative 
Pay 
Range

Total inclusive 
of on-costs 

@32%

Unallocated Salary 
Budget

    
Director of Planning & Place £55-65k £85,800.00  
    
Director of Nature Recovery & 
Climate Change £55-65k £85,800.00  
    
Programme Manager £50-60k £79,200.00  
    
    
    
Total  £250,800.00         £246,000.00 

Page 40



9

Recommendation Reason for Recommendation
Approval for new post of;

Director of Planning & 
Place

 To provide strategic leadership, organisational effectiveness, direction and objective delivery.
 To adequately resource the leadership capacity of the organisation in order to appropriately share the strategic workload, thinking, planning,

clarity, direction and objective delivery; including SLT membership.
 To assist with improving; morale, empowering people, organisational and personal development and performance.
 To mitigate risk and potential service, project and strategic objective delivery failure.

Approval for new post of;

Director of Nature
Recovery & Climate
Change

 To provide strategic leadership, organisational effectiveness, direction and objective delivery.
 To adequately resource the leadership capacity of the organisation in order to appropriately share the strategic workload, thinking, planning,

clarity, direction and objective delivery; including SLT membership.
 To assist with improving; morale, empowering people, organisational and personal development and performance.
 To mitigate risk and potential service, project and strategic objective delivery failure.

Approval for the new post of;

Programme Manager

 To provide management , coordination and control to the programme of multiple projects, supporting their identification, validation,
prioritisation, resourcing, progression, reporting, implementation and benefit realisation aligned to achieving the intended goals and
objectives.

 To implement a programme management framework that ensures; performance measures aligned to strategic and project objectives with 
measures that focus on outcomes; project management methodology and programme office discipline and structure that therefore generates
consistency and effectiveness.

 To help generate and facilitate matrix working across the programmes multiple projects that is enhanced by the proposed membership of the
SLT and the strategic links and collaboration this will foster.

 To assist with corporate support alignment to the programme brief via direct line management and support.
 To mitigate risk in respect of overall programme delivery via robust, validation, challenge and strategic alignment at project conception stage.
 To mitigate existing risk in project non-delivery, subsequent benefit realisation and under spend of allocated funding.

To make the Post of Legal
& Democratic Services
including Monitoring
Officer Permanent

 The post of Monitoring Officer is a statutory requirement of the Authority.
 To provide stability and leadership in respect of the operation of the constitution, Democratic Services and overall Governance.
 To mitigate risk in respect of employee turnover due to the ‘temporary’ status of the role.
 To mitigate risk in potentially not being able to recruit to or attract to a ‘Statutory’ role due to its temporary status.

P
age 41



10

8. Conclusion

Putting in place this proposed Senior Structure is a key step on the improvement 
journey the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority must take. The proposed senior 
leadership requirements will provide clarity, direction, priority and structure aligned 
to forward work programme objectives. 

There is a lot to do to ensure that the Authority is on the right track, and that we will 
have the influence and impact that is expected of us, and for which we have the 
ambition.  

The implementation of this strategic leadership model will provide a solid foundation 
and be the catalyst for further improvement across fundamental areas including; 
improved governance, effective programme and performance and risk management 
framework; matrix / cross functional working; processes and systems review, all of 
which will cumulatively lead to a high performing, successful organisation with a 
workforce that is supported, developed, empowered and fulfilled and which is 
delivering for the citizens we serve.

Page 42



11

Appendix 1

 
Proposals Basis & Sources

National Policy / Programme for Government
National Park Purposes & Duty

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) act 2015
Environment (Wales) Act 2016

Valued & Resilient
Tourism Strategy for Wales 2020-25

Values Based Recovery
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 – SLSP Programme

National Designated landscapes Partnership
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 – Biodiversity & Resilience of Ecosystems

Engagement, Information & Benchmarking

Officer Group spanning all services (Roles & Accountabilities / Leadership, Management & Communication / Corporate & Projects)
Members

CEO – Snowdonia & Pembrokeshire
Cairngorms National Park

Welsh Government
WAO
NRW

Existing Projects

Strategy & Plans
National Park Management Plan

Corporate Plan
Action Plans e.g. NRAP, HEAP

LDP

Rem
itLetter

Clim
ate

&
N

ature
Em

ergency

Page 43



12

Appendix 2

Page 44



13

Appendix 3

Page 45



14

Appendix 4

Page 46



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Job Description

Position: Director of Planning and Place
Grade: CO
Accountable to: Chief Executive
Directorate 
Portfolio:                        

Planning
Sustainable Development
Sustainable Thriving communities
Heritage & Culture
Sustainable Tourism, Outdoor Recreation
Commercial & Property Management & Development

Direct Line 
Management of:
Dimensions: Financial

Gross 3.1 m 

Non-Financial
Circa 51 FTE Staff

Job Purpose: To provide strategic leadership, clear organisational and long-term direction 
for the National Park Authority’s Planning and Place Directorate, ensuring 
statutory compliance, operational effectiveness and more impactful outcomes, 
protecting and enhancing the special qualities and environment of the park 
whilst enabling the well-being of current and future generations.

To work holistically across the organisation as a member of the Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT) with a view to developing and achieving effective 
outcomes in relation to key themes including; climate change, equality and 
well-being, partnership continuity and development, conservation and 
volunteering.

To deliver the necessary strategic partnerships with other organisations with 
a view to achieving successful implementation of the National Park Authority’s 
statutory purpose and the outcomes identified by the Government Work 
Programme, National Park Management Plan, the Corporate Plan and relevant 
projects.

Key Responsibilities:

1. Provide leadership for the National Park Authority on; Planning, Enabling Sustainable Thriving 
Communities, Heritage and Culture, Sustainable Tourism, Outdoor Recreation, and Property 
Management and Development, leading the respective areas in delivering key objectives aligned 
to the Government Forward Work Programme, National Park Management Plan (NPMP), 
Corporate Plan and Local Development Plan (LDP).

2. Ensure that the National Park fulfils its statutory aims and undertakes its statutory functions, 
achieving the optimum standards of outcomes and service delivery in accordance with policy and 
regulation.

Page 47



3. To lead the National Park Authority on Planning and Place, providing clear strategic guidance to 
the SLT and National Park Authority (NPA) and partner organisations, also providing the 
strategic lead on the development and implementation of plans, policies, programmes and 
partnerships to achieve the Authority’s aims including; sustainable development, sustainable 
tourism and cultural heritage protection and enhancement.

4. To provide strategic leadership in developing and implementing policies, actions and projects 
within the programme for government, NPMP, Corporate Plan and LDP, that aim to reduce the 
negative and enhance the benefits of tourism on the park area and capitalise on the benefits.

5. In conjunction with the SLT ensure the highest standards of procedures and protocols are in 
place and adhered to deliver effective Corporate Governance and Member engagement.

6. Ensure effective monitoring, challenge and evaluation of the Directorate’s performance against 
the NPMP / Corporate Plan driving high performance and outcome delivery across the 
Directorates teams.

7. Lead and promote the dissemination across the Directorate of the individual performance 
framework ensuring effectiveness, support, follow up and strategic alignment.

8. Strategic lead on ensuring effective resource management across the Directorate including, the 
adherence to processes and procedures that manage and safeguard public finances and assets 
entrusted to the National Park Authority, and that Financial and Human resources are effectively 
allocated, deployed and monitored to deliver identified outcomes and specified performance
 targets, consistently ensuring optimum value.

9. Lead on the maintenance, development and enhancement of positive and productive strategic 
and operational relationships with key partners to ensure the delivery of the Directorates aims.

10. To actively manage the Authorities own assets and development of a commercial strategy.

11. Represent the National Park Authority in respect of Planning and Place to partners and forums 
including; Welsh Government, National Resources Wales, Public Service Board, CJC, members 
of the public etc. ensuring partnership, collaborative working and commitment support.

12. To work collaboratively with the UK family of National Parks.

13. Lead, promote and encourage a culture of continuous improvement across the Directorate 
empowering all to contribute, develop and implement efficient and effective solutions in the 
short, medium and long term. 

14. To be a member of the National Park Authority’s SLT.

15. Contribute to and work holistically as the authority’s SLT in developing, delivering and 
maintaining cross-cutting themes including;

 Climate Change
 Equality and Well-Being
 Partnership Continuity and Development
 Conservation
 Volunteering

16. Lead and demonstrate effective communication and engagement as a member of the strategic

Page 48



leadership team.

17. Contribute to the development of change management and benefit realisation plans, ensuring 
alignment between operational delivery, function development and strategy.

18. Ensure that the integrity and reputation of the National Park and the Authority is safeguarded 
and positively positioned at all times.

Performance

19. To deliver the relevant areas of the Government forward work programme, NPMP, 
Corporate Plan and LDP.

20. To be the Authority’s lead and spokesperson for Planning and Place ensuring the 
Authority’s reputation is safeguarded at all times.

21. To represent the NPA externally at a strategic level on all areas concerning the Planning and 
Place Directorate and to ensure effective relationships at all levels with strategic 
partners.

22. To ensure effective cross functional collaboration across the NPA in delivery of cross-cutting 
themes.

23. To work closely with SLT members and specifically the Programme / Portfolio Manager ensuring 
cohesiveness and clear accountability in respect of objective outcomes and delivery including 
projects.

24. To ensure effective management, communication and engagement of people and resources.

25. Such other duties as are commensurate with the objectives and grade of the post, as
directed from time to time by the Chief Executive.

Page 49



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Person Specification

Director of Planning and Place

The successful candidate must be able to demonstrate evidence of the following criteria:
Essential Desirable

Qualifications
Educated to degree level or equivalent in a relevant discipline. √

Full membership of The Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI), and 
evidence of CPD.

√

Management Qualification e.g. ILM Level 7 √

Membership of appropriate professional body or evidence of continuing 
professional development (CPD).

√

Knowledge

Must have the extensive knowledge and experience in the leadership and 
management of one of the major functional areas of Planning and Place.

√

Demonstrate a good understanding of the BBNPA’s role in the park area, 
and the importance, as well as, the practical implications of working in 
partnership.

√

Have a good appreciation of work and governance in the public sector, a 
good understanding of the private sector in rural areas and demonstrate 
awareness of the pressures and constraints across both sectors.

√

The ability to demonstrate objectivity in providing advice to other areas 
of the NPA and externally on a range of Planning and Place issues.

√

Experience

Experience of developing and implementing policy and strategy in the 
area of Planning and Place.

√

Demonstratable experience of effective community, partner and 
stakeholder engagement to work collaboratively in achieving aims and 
objectives.

√

Experience of matrix / cross-functional working. √

Experience of successfully monitoring and evaluating performance and 
objective delivery. 

√

Experience of strategically leading teams and managing staff with a range 
of different specialisms and be able to nurture their future development 
within the organisation.

√

Page 50



Experience of strategic level multiple budget analysis and monitoring and 
entrepreneurial approach to new sources of revenue.

√

Experience of working with elected members in a political environment. √

Skills

Demonstratable, effective and strong strategic leadership. √

A proven innovative thinker, able to generate or seek through 
engagement new ways of working, improvement and approaches to 
problem solving.

√

Capable of dealing tactfully and diplomatically with local communities, 
community groups and business interests.

√

Able to demonstrate the capability of assessing complex policy issues and 
developing solutions.

√

Political sensitivity with an ability to make progress in complex policy 
areas and a strong belief in the value of local democracy and 
accountability

√

Good organisational skills and ability to work under pressure to tight 
deadlines.

√

Ability to manage large and complex projects in parallel and 
simultaneously.

√

Excellent oral and written communication skills. √

Computer literate in the use of Microsoft Office software.  √

Full driving licence √

Welsh Language Level 0 √

Personal Qualities

Authentic Leader who empowers others. √

Have the initiative, vision and drive to develop the role and the work of 
the Directorate alongside the evolution of the NPA, and to make a 
positive contribution to creating the culture and reputation of the whole 
organisation.

√

Self-Confident and personable communication style. √

Open to robust challenge & able to respond 

calmly and professionally.

√

Flexible and able to attend occasional evening meetings. √

Team player, ready to offer support and respond to ad hoc requests for 
help from colleagues.

√

To be a committed advocate of the park’s values, purposes and 
objectives via public communication and engagement.

√

Page 51



Welsh Language Requirement  
Please note: If you do not meet the Welsh language Requirements specified, then the Authority 
offers a variety of learning options and staff support to help you meet these requirements during 
your employment with us.  

Page 52



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Job Description

Director of Nature Recovery & Climate Change

Position: Director of Nature Recovery & Climate Change
Grade: CO
Accountable to: Chief Executive
Directorate 
Portfolio:

Decarbonisation
Biodiversity
Sustainable Agriculture
Maintenance and Development of the Park Landscape
Access & Rights of Way
Visitor Engagement
Education – Awareness, Inclusion & Opportunity
Warden Services

Direct Line 
Management of:
Dimensions: Financial

Gross 3.1m 

Non-Financial
Circa  24 FTE Staff

Job Purpose: To provide strategic leadership, clear organisational vision and long-term 
direction for the National Park Authority’s Nature Recovery and Climate 
Change Directorate, ensuring operational effectiveness and more impactful 
outcomes, protecting and enhancing the special qualities and environment of 
the park whilst enabling the well-being of current and future generations.

To work holistically across the organisation as a member of the Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT) with a view to developing and achieving effective 
outcomes in relation to key themes including; climate change, equality and 
well-being, partnership continuity and development, conservation and 
volunteering.

To deliver the necessary strategic partnerships with other organisations with 
a view to achieving successful implementation of the National Park Authority’s 
statutory purpose and the outcomes identified by the Government Work 
Programme, National Park Management Plan, the Corporate Plan and 
relevant projects.

Key Responsibilities:

1. Provide leadership for the National Park Authority on; Nature Recovery and Climate Change, 
maintenance of the park landscape, rights of way, education and warden services and visitor 
engagement, leading the respective teams in delivering key objectives aligned to the Government 
Forward Work Programme, National Park Management Plan (NPMP) and Corporate Plan.

2. Ensure that the National Park fulfils its statutory aims and undertakes its statutory functions 
achieving the optimum standards of outcomes and service delivery.

Page 55



3. To lead the National Park Authority on Nature Recovery and Climate Change, providing clear 
strategic guidance to the SLT and National Park Authority (NPA) and partner organisation, also 
providing the strategic lead on the development and implementation of plans, policies, 
programmes and systems to achieve the Authority’s aims.

4. In conjunction with the SLT ensure the highest standards of procedures and protocols are in 
place and adhered to deliver effective Corporate Governance and Member engagement.

5. Ensure effective monitoring, challenge and evaluation of the Directorate’s performance against 
the NPMP / Corporate Plan driving high performance and outcome delivery across the 
Directorates teams.

6. Lead and promote the dissemination across the Directorate of the individual performance 
framework ensuring effectiveness, support, follow up and strategic alignment.

7. Strategic lead on ensuring effective resource management across the Directorate including, the 
adherence to processes and procedures that manage and safeguard public finances and assets 
entrusted to the National Park Authority, and that Financial and Human resources are effectively 
allocated, deployed and monitored to deliver identified outcomes and specified performance 
targets, consistently ensuring optimum value.

8. Lead on the maintenance, development and enhancement of positive and productive strategic 
and operational relationships with key partners to ensure the delivery of the Directorates aims.

9. To actively manage the Authorities own assets and development of a commercial strategy.

10. Represent the National Park Authority in respect of Nature and Climate Change to partners 
including; Welsh Government, National Resources Wales, Public Service Board, members of the 
public etc. ensuring partnership and commitment support.

11. To work collaboratively with the UK family of National Parks.

12. Lead, promote and encourage a culture of continuous improvement across the Directorate 
empowering all to contribute, develop and implement efficient and effective solutions in the 
short, medium and long term. 

13. To be a member of the National Park Authority’s SLT.

14. Contribute to and work holistically as the authority’s SLT in developing, delivering and 
maintaining cross-cutting themes including;

 Climate Change
 Equality and Well-Being
 Partnership Continuity and Development
 Conservation
 Volunteering

15. Lead and demonstrate effective communication and engagement as a member of the strategic 
leadership team.

16. Contribute to the development of change management and benefit realisation plans, ensuring 

Page 56



alignment between operational delivery, function development and strategy.

17. Ensure that the integrity and reputation of the National Park and the Authority is safeguarded 
and positively positioned at all times.

Performance

18. To deliver the relevant areas of the Government forward work programme, NPMP and 
Corporate Plan.

19. To be the Authority’s lead and spokesperson for Nature Recovery and Climate Change ensuring 
the Authority’s reputation is safeguarded at all times.

20. To represent the NPA externally at a strategic level on all areas concerning the Nature Recovery 
and Climate Change Directorate and to ensure effective relationships at all levels with strategic 
partners.

21. To ensure effective cross functional collaboration across the NPA in delivery of cross-cutting 
themes.

22. To work closely with SLT members and specifically the Programme / Portfolio Manager ensuring 
cohesiveness and clear accountability in respect of objective outcomes and delivery including 
projects.

23. To ensure effective management, communication and engagement of people and resources.

24. Such other duties as are commensurate with the objectives and grade of the post, as
 directed from time to time by the Chief Executive.

Page 57



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Person Specification

Director of Nature Recovery and Climate Change

The successful candidate must be able to demonstrate evidence of the following criteria:
Essential Desirable

Qualifications

Educated to degree level or equivalent in a relevant discipline. √

Membership of appropriate professional body or evidence of continuing 
professional development (CPD).

√

Management Qualification e.g. ILM Level 7 √

Knowledge

Extensive knowledge and experience in the leadership and management 
of one of the major functional areas of Nature Recovery, Conservation, 
Climate Change and / or Land Management.

√

Demonstrate a good understanding of the BBNPA’s role in the park area, 
and the importance, as well as, the practical implications of working in 
partnership.

√

Demonstrate a good appreciation of work and governance in the public 
sector, a good understanding of the private sector in rural areas and 
demonstrate awareness of the pressures and constraints across both 
sectors.

√

The ability to demonstrate objectivity in providing advice to other areas 
of the NPA and externally on a range of Nature and Climate Change 
issues.

√

Experience

Experience of developing and implementing policy in any or more of the 
following subject areas; Conservation, Climate Change or Land 
Management.

√

Demonstratable experience of effective community, partner and 
stakeholder engagement to work collaboratively in achieving aims and 
objectives.

√

Experience of matrix / cross-functional working. √

Experience of successfully monitoring and evaluating performance and 
objective delivery. 

√

Experience of strategically leading teams and managing staff with a range 
of different specialisms and be able to nurture their future development 

√

Page 58



within the organisation.

Experience of strategic level multiple budget analysis and monitoring and 
entrepreneurial approach to new sources of revenue.

√

Experience of working with elected members in a political environment. √

Skills

Demonstratable, effective and strong strategic leadership. √

A proven innovative thinker, able to generate or seek through 
engagement new ways of working, improvement and approaches to 
problem solving.

√

Capable of dealing tactfully and diplomatically with local communities, 
community groups and business interests.

√

Able to demonstrate the capability of assessing complex policy issues and 
developing solutions.

√

Political sensitivity with an ability to make progress in complex policy 
areas and a strong belief in the value of local democracy and 
accountability

√

Good organisational skills and ability to work under pressure to tight 
deadlines.

√

Ability to oversee large and complex projects in parallel and 
simultaneously.

√

Excellent oral and written communication skills. √

Computer literate in the use of Microsoft Office software.  √

Full driving licence √

Welsh Language Level 0 √

Personal Qualities

A strong authentic Leader who empowers others. √

Have the initiative, vision and drive to develop the role and the work of 
the Directorate alongside the evolution of the NPA, and to make a 
positive contribution to creating the culture and reputation of the whole 
organisation.

√

Self-Confident and personable communication style. √

Open to robust challenge & able to respond 

calmly and professionally.

√

Team player, ready to offer support and respond to ad hoc requests for 
help from colleagues.

√

Flexible and able to attend occasional evening meetings √

Page 59



To be a committed advocate of the park’s values, purposes and 
objectives via public communication and engagement.

√

Welsh Language Requirement  
Please note: If you do not meet the Welsh language Requirements specified, then the Authority 
offers a variety of learning options and staff support to help you meet these requirements during 
your employment with us.  

Page 60



Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Job Description

Programme/Portfolio Manager

Position: Programme/Portfolio Manager

Grade: CO
Accountable to: Chief Executive
Directorate 
Portfolio:

Programme Management, IT, HR and Finance

Direct Line 
Management of: Finance, HR & IT
Dimensions: Financial

Gross £570,000
Non-Financial
Circa  11 FTE Staff

Job Purpose: The BBNPA Programme Manager will manage, coordinate and control a 
programme of multiple projects from cradle to grave supporting their 
identification, validation, prioritisation, resourcing, progression, reporting, 
implementation and benefit realisation aligned to achieving the intended goals 
and objectives.

The BBNPA Programme Manager will be responsible for the corporate 
services of Finance, HR and IT ensuring a cohesive approach based on the 
close synergise each of these portfolios have in delivering a multiple project 
programme of work, in addition to their statutory compliance duties and 
integral part in supporting all of the operating components of the organisation.

The role will coordinate and assist in developing the necessary partnerships 
with other organisations, partners and stakeholders in order to achieve 
optimum programme outcomes.

Key Responsibilities:

1. Support the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) on the Park’s overarching programme of projects, 
within a whole system approach, offering particular expertise in programme and project 
management. 

2. Provide effective leadership, motivation and day to day management of the programme 
throughout its lifecycle to ensure effective outcomes. 

3. Lead the management and coordination of the programme, working with respective Project leads 
and multiple stakeholders ensuring programme objectives are delivered within budget, on time 
and to the standards and quality required.

4. Manage and coordinate compliance with the Authority’s programme framework including; 
identification, validation, prioritisation, resourcing, progression, reporting, implementation and 
benefit realisation. 

5. Lead on project definition and deploy the techniques needed including; gap analysis, evidence 

Page 63



appraisal, option appraisal, business case, specifications and standard project documentation 
including; initiation documents, charter, project plan, risk and issue logs, communications and 
benefit realisation plans.

6. Define resource requirements including financials in conjunction with project leads.

7. To be proactive and agile in supporting multiple projects, ensuring people, process, systems, and 
tools are engaged, adjusted and deployed effectively in alignment with strategic programme 
priorities and deliverables.

8. Promote and maintain an open and proactive communication culture across the programme via 
effective two-way systems that promote awareness, engagement and 
Inclusivity.

9. Ensure a robust framework of programme governance including; performance, outcomes, 
financials, capacity, audit, risk management and decision making that are embedded and adhered 
to. 

10. Coordinate and collate the production of performance reports, reporting on programme 
progress, outputs, next steps, deliverables, resource requirements, risks and issues.

11. Support the development and maintenance of a culture which places and embeds robust 
programme management approaches at the heart of all projects undertaken by the Parks. 

12. Provide support, advice, guidance and assistance to respective project leads and team members 
to promote consistent, methodology, project management discipline, focused on embedding a 
culture of continuous improvement, high performance and objective delivery.

13. Working with respective project leads and stakeholders, to establish benefits baseline and 
realisation plans for the programme of work. 

14. The post holder will support colleagues and transfer skills in order to grow and develop 
programme and project across the organisation.

15. Provide leadership and direction to the Authority’s corporate services of Finance, HR and IT.

16. Lead and continuously develop/improve the portfolio of services to be as efficient and effective 
as possible.

17. Directly line manage the Finance Manager (Section 151 Officer), Human Resources Officer and 
IT Function.

18. Lead, promote and encourage a culture of continuous improvement across the organisation 
empowering all to contribute, develop and implement efficient and effective solutions in the 
short, medium and long term. 

19. To be a member of the National Park Authority’s SLT.

Page 64



Performance

20. To coordinate and deliver the Authority’s programme of projects. 

21. To lead on ensuring operational compliance with all relevant regulatory frameworks and 
legislation relevant to the programme framework.

21. Ensure reporting protocols and information are met including; quality, promptness and 
effectiveness.

22. To ensure effective cross functional matrix working across the programme brief

23. To work closely with SLT members ensuring cohesiveness and clear accountability in respect of 
objective outcomes and delivery across the programme brief.

24. To ensure effective leadership, management, communication and engagement across the 
portfolio of services (Finance, HR, I.T and Programme Management).

25. All information management and technology related matters, including acting as the Authority’s 
point of contact and responsible officer for information risk

26. Such other duties as are commensurate with the objectives and grade of the post, as directed 
from time to time by the Chief Executive.

Page 65



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Person Specification

Programme/Portfolio Manager

The successful candidate must be able to demonstrate evidence of the following criteria:
Essential Desirable

Qualifications

Educated to degree level or equivalent in a relevant discipline. √

Project Management Qualified e.g. Prince 2 and / or Managing 
Successful programmes (MSP) 

√

Management qualification e.g. ILM Level 7 √

Membership of appropriate professional body or evidence of continuing 
professional development (CPD).

√

Knowledge

Evidence of thinking cross-functionally and cross organisationally, 
beyond one’s own professional areas of specialism is important as is the 
ability to conceptualise new, collaborative ways of achieving shared 
goals.

√

Demonstrate excellent knowledge and experience of effective budgeting 
and resource allocation.

√

Knowledge of project management tools, methodologies and 
techniques.

√

Basic knowledge of IT infrastructure and technologies that would 
support a small / medium size organisation.

√

Demonstrate a good understanding of the BBNPA’s role in the park area √

Have a good appreciation of work and governance in the public sector. √

Experience

Proven experience of successfully managing and delivering a wide range 
of complex and high value projects and programmes within a diverse 
workload to a structured project management process such as PRINCE 2 
or equivalent.

√

Management experience of a range of services. √

Experience of matrix / cross-functional working. √

Experience of successfully monitoring and evaluating performance and √

Page 66



objective delivery. 

Demonstratable experience preferably in the public sector of 
programme management within quality, time and financial parameters.

√

Experience of effective collaborative working and stakeholder 
engagement.

√

Experience of working with elected members in a political 

environment.

√

Evidence of creating and sustaining productive relationships with 

colleagues and stakeholders.

√

Experience of risk management, including assessment, ranking, 
reporting and mitigation

√

Skills

Demonstratable, effective programme management skills and 
techniques.

√

Proven record of maintaining high standards and objective delivery. √

Strong planning skills, able to plan effectively against deadlines in order 
to produce timely outputs and deliverables.

√

Ability to be proactive and agile in supporting multiple projects √

Demonstratable ability to communicate effectively including; reporting, 
presentation and communication skills.

√

Ability to write and populate project documentation including; initiation 
documents, business cases, strategic plans, project plans and 
performance reports.

√

Computer literate in the use of Microsoft Office software.  √

Full driving licence √

Welsh Language Level 0 √

Personal Qualities

A Manager who supports, empowers and engages with all stakeholders 
across the organisation.

√

Have the initiative, vision and drive to develop the programme role 
alongside the evolution of the NPA, and to make a positive contribution 
to creating the culture and reputation of the whole organisation. 

√

Self-Confident and personable communication style. √

Open to robust challenge & able to respond 

calmly and professionally.

√

Page 67



Team player, ready to offer support and respond to ad hoc requests for 
help from colleagues.

√

To be a committed advocate of the park’s values, purposes and 
objectives via public communication and engagement.

√

Welsh Language Requirement  
Please note: If you do not meet the Welsh language Requirements specified, then the Authority 
offers a variety of learning options and staff support to help you meet these requirements during 
your employment with us.  

Page 68



Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	NPA Minutes - July 2021
	ASC Minutes - May 2021

	7 A470 and Pont ar Daf
	Pont ar Daf Plan A,B Areas

	8 Changes to Standing Orders
	9 Senior Leadership Proposals
	Director of Planning and Place JD  PS_final draft
	Director of Nature Recovery and Climate Change JD  PS_final draft (002)
	Programme and Portfolio Manager JD  PS_final draft


